THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001661

RECEIVED

MAR 22 2024

SC Court of Appeals

Brandi Clarkson, Appellant,

v.

J. King Real Estate, LLC and Jason Ernest King, Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

J. Gregory Studemeyer
S.C. Bar # 5416
7478 Carlisle Street
Post Office Box 1014
Irmo, South Carolina 29063
(803) 393-4399
greg@studemeyerlawfirm.com
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. In denying Clarkson's motion for a new trial, the trial court held that a "breach of contract, even if repeated and capable of repetition, is insufficient to establish a claim under the SCUTPA." In *Beneficial Financial I, Inc. v. Windham*, the Court of Appeals held that a breach of contract is sufficient to establish a claim under the SCUTPA. Was the trial court's denial of Clarkson's motion for new trial controlled by an error of law?
2. A motion for directed verdict must be denied if a verdict for the nonmoving party would be reasonably possible under the facts as liberally construed in his or her favor. Clarkson produced evidence sufficient to permit a reasonable jury to conclude that JKRE had engaged in unfair and deceptive acts in the conduct of trade or commerce that are capable of repetition. Did the trial court err in granting the Defendant's motion for directed verdict on Clarkson's SCUTPA cause of action?
3. Intentional interference with prospective contractual relations consists of intentional and improper methods of diverting or taking away ongoing or prospective business or contractual rights from another. Clarkson produced evidence that King interfered with her legitimate expectation of benefits arising from contracts that she procured between buyers and sellers. Did the trial court err in granting a directed verdict as to Clarkson's claim for intentional interference with prospective contractual relations?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action was initiated by the filing of a summons and complaint on July 21, 2020. In her complaint, while reserving the right to supplement in accordance with Rule 15(d), SCRCF to address five (5) additional transactions, Clarkson alleged that her broker, J. King Real Estate, LLC ("JKRE"), had failed and refused to pay her a commission of \$3,660.00 earned on the sale of

property located at 520 Green Street in West Columbia. The complaint set forth claims for breach of contract and violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act (“SCUTPA”).¹

On September 2, 2020, JKRE filed an answer in which it denied the material allegations of the complaint and asserted affirmative defenses of *payment*, accord and satisfaction, estoppel, waiver, condition precedent, and set-off and recoupment.² JKRE further asserted counterclaims for prior material breach and conversion of a key to JKRE's office and sought an award of attorneys' fees and costs under the South Carolina Frivolous Civil Proceedings Sanctions Act (“FCPSA”), S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-36-10, et seq.

In addition, on September 2, 2020, JKRE filed a notice of motion and motion to dismiss. Therein, JKRE asserted that “the Complaint plainly state[d] frivolous and baseless ‘claims’ that were not ripe at the time of filing of the Complaint and would fall outside of the boundaries of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act, and otherwise fail[ed] to state a claim for relief.” Again, JKRE sought an award of attorneys' fees and costs under S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-36-10, et seq.

On September 15, 2020, Clarkson filed a reply. Therein, Clarkson denied the material allegations of the counterclaims.

On October 2, 2020, Clarkson filed a motion to serve an amended and supplemental complaint with a proposed amended and supplemental complaint. Therein, Clarkson asserted that JKRE had threatened her with claims of interference to exclude her from her pending transactions and had failed and refused to pay her additional commissions of \$5,550.00 earned on the sale of

¹ The South Carolina Payment of Wages Act (“SCPWA”), S.C. Code Ann. §§41-10-10, et seq. does not apply to independent contractors. See *Adamson v. Marianne Fabrics, Inc.*, 301 S.C. 204, 391 S.E.2d 249 (1990). See also *Hennes v. Shaw*, 397 S.C. 391, 725 S.E.2d 501 (Ct. App. 2012).

² JKRE paid Clarkson her commission, minus a \$50 “transaction fee,” on the 520 Green Street transaction and transferred two transactions to Clarkson’s new broker between the time of filing the initial complaint and the time of filing the motion to amend and supplement.

property at 503 Concord Place Road, \$9,411.44 earned on the sale of property at 1023 Old Town Road, and \$4,260.00 earned on the sale of property at 249 Trinity Three Road. Clarkson further alleged that JKRE had systematically and deceptively withheld illegal and unauthorized “transaction fees” from her on 58 transactions.³ The proposed amended and supplemental complaint asserted claims for breach of contract, intentional interference with prospective contractual relations, and violation of the SCUTPA.

On October 19, 2020, Clarkson filed a memorandum in opposition to motion to dismiss. On October 27, 2020, Clarkson filed a memorandum in support of motion to amend and supplement complaint. On October 28, 2020, the Honorable Walton J. McLeod, IV issued a consent order resolving Defendant's motion to dismiss and Plaintiff's motion to serve an amended and supplemental complaint.

On October 29, 2020, Clarkson filed the amended and supplemental complaint. On November 13, 2020, JKRE filed an answer to amended and supplemental complaint. Therein, JKRE again asserted that the amended and supplemental complaint failed to state a cause of action upon which relief could be granted and otherwise denied the material allegations. JKRE also reasserted *payment*, failure to mitigate damages, accord and satisfaction, estoppel, waiver, condition precedent, and set-off and recoupment as affirmative defenses and counterclaims for prior material breach and conversion. JKRE again sought an award of attorneys' fees and costs under S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-36-10, et seq.

On October 29, 2020, JKRE also filed a notice of motion and motion to dismiss amended and supplemental complaint. Therein, JKRE suggested that the amended and supplemental

³ See *Freeman v. J.L.H. Investments, LP, a/k/a Hendrick Honda of Easley*, 414 S.C. 362, 778 S.E.2d 902 (2015).

complaint asserted a frivolous claim for tortious interference with a prospective contract, a frivolous claim under the SCUTPA, and frivolous claims not supported by the facts. Again, JKRE sought an award of attorneys' fees and costs under S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-36-10.

On November 23, 2020, Clarkson filed a reply. Therein, Clarkson denied the material allegations of the counterclaims.

On January 19, 2021, Clarkson filed a memorandum in opposition to motion to dismiss. On February 12, 2021, JKRE filed a memorandum in support of motion to dismiss amended and supplemental complaint. On February 16, 2021, Clarkson filed Plaintiff's reply memorandum.

On March 17, 2021, the Honorable Debra R. McCaslin issued an order denying JKRE's motion to dismiss and motion for sanctions. In her order, Judge McCaslin specifically found that Clarkson's claims for tortious interference with prospective contractual relations and violation of the SCUTPA were "not frivolous."

On July 13, 2021, JKRE filed a notice of motion and motion for summary judgment with a supporting affidavit of Jason Ernest King ("King"). Among other things, the affidavit stated that JKRE charged Clarkson "transaction fees" in exchange for paperwork reviews conducted by King "to make sure that all legal requirements [were] satisfied."

On October 28, 2021, Clarkson filed an affidavit in opposition and a memorandum in opposition to Defendant's motion for summary judgment. On October 30, 2021, JKRE filed a memorandum in support of motion for summary judgment. On December 16, 2021, the Honorable H. Steven DeBerry, IV issued a Form 4 denial of JKRE's motion for summary judgment based on the existence of multiple genuine issues of material fact.

On December 20, 2021, JKRE filed an amended answer to amended and supplemental complaint. Therein, JKRE again asserted that the amended and supplemental complaint failed to

state a cause of action upon which relief could be granted and otherwise denied the material allegations. JKRE also set forth *payment*, failure to mitigate damages, accord and satisfaction, estoppel, waiver, condition precedent, set-off and recoupment, and S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-32-530 as affirmative defenses and asserted counterclaims for prior material breach and conversion. Again, JKRE sought an award of attorney's fees and costs under S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-36-10, et seq.

The same day, Clarkson filed a reply to amended answer to amended and supplemental complaint. Therein, Clarkson denied the material allegations of the counterclaims.

On February 4, 2022, Clarkson filed a motion to serve a second amended and supplemental complaint with a proposed second amended and supplemental complaint. Therein, Clarkson moved to add King as a person who committed, participated in, directed, or authorized the unfair and deceptive acts and practices.

On June 9, 2022, Clarkson filed Plaintiff's memorandum in support of motion to serve a second amended and supplemental complaint. On June 13, 2022, JKRE filed a memorandum in opposition to Plaintiff's second motion to amend. On August 18, 2022, the Honorable William P. Keesley issued a Form 4 order granting Clarkson's motion.

On August 25, 2022, Clarkson filed an amended summons and the second amended and supplemental complaint. On September 30, 2022, the Defendants filed an answer to second amended and supplemental complaint. Again, the Defendants asserted that the second amended and supplemental complaint failed to state a cause of action upon which relief could be granted and otherwise denied the material allegations. The Defendants also set forth *payment*, failure to mitigate damages, accord and satisfaction, estoppel, waiver, condition precedent, set-off and recoupment, corporate veil, and S.C. Code Ann. Section 40-57-10, et seq. as affirmative defenses

and asserted counterclaims for prior material breach and conversion. Again, the Defendants sought an award of attorney's fees and costs under S.C. Code Ann. Section 15-36-10, et seq.

On November 10, 2022, Clarkson filed a reply. Therein, Clarkson denied the material allegations of the counterclaims.

This matter came before the Honorable Donald B. Hocker for a jury trial from July 24 – 26, 2023. At the close of the Plaintiff's case, Judge Hocker granted the Defendants' motions for directed verdict on Clarkson's claims for violation of the SCUTPA and tortious interference with prospective contractual relations. The jury returned a verdict for Clarkson for \$16,338.22 on her claim for breach of contract and a verdict on the counterclaim for \$379.68.

On August 2, 2023, Clarkson filed a motion for new trial. On August 7, 2023, JKRE and King filed a memorandum in opposition to Plaintiff's motion for new trial. On August 9, 2023, Clarkson filed a reply memorandum. On September 18, 2023, Judge Hocker issued an order denying Clarkson's motion for new trial.

On October 17, 2023, Clarkson timely served and filed notice of appeal. The amount involved on appeal is \$19,221.44, representing the three subject real estate commissions and the sum of \$2,250.00, representing "transaction fees" withheld by JKRE on 46 occasions.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In an action at law, when a case tried by a jury is appealed, "the jurisdiction of the appellate court extends merely to the correction of errors of law, and a factual finding by the jury will not be disturbed unless a review of the record discloses there is no evidence which reasonably supports the jury's findings." *Wright v. Craft*, 372 S.C. 1, 18, 640 S.E.2d 486, 495 (Ct. App. 2006).

When a circuit court's ruling on a motion for a directed verdict is appealed, an appellate court must apply the same standard as the circuit court. *RFT Mgmt. Co. v. Tinsley & Adams L.L.P.*,

399 S.C. 322, 331, 732 S.E.2d 166, 171 (2012). When ruling on directed verdict, “the [trial] court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences drawn from the evidence in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party” and must deny the motion “[i]f the evidence at trial yields more than one reasonable inference or its inference is in doubt.” *Kunst v. Loree*, 424 S.C. 24, 37–38, 817 S.E.2d 295, 301–02 (Ct. App. 2018). “When considering [such] motions, neither the [circuit] court nor the appellate court has [the] authority to decide credibility issues or to resolve conflicts in the testimony or [the] evidence.” *Parrish v. Allison*, 376 S.C. 308, 319, 656 S.E.2d 382, 388 (Ct. App. 2007). In essence, the court must determine whether a verdict for the opposing party would be reasonably possible under the facts as liberally construed in his or her favor. *Estate of Carr ex rel. Bolton v. Circle S Enterprises, Inc.*, 379 S.C. 31, 38, 664 S.E.2d 83, 86 (2008).

“On appeal, the appellate court reviews a denial of a new trial motion for an abuse of discretion.” *Duncan v. Hampton Cty. Sch. Dist. No. 2*, 335 S.C. 535, 547, 517 S.E.2d 449, 455 (Ct. App. 1999). A trial judge's order granting or denying a new trial upon the facts will not be disturbed unless his decision is wholly unsupported by the evidence, or the conclusion reached was controlled by an error of law. *South Carolina State Highway Department v. Clarkson*, 267 S.C. 121, 226 S.E.2d 696 (1976).

FACTS

This action arose from a dispute between Clarkson, a real estate agent, and JKRE, a real estate brokerage firm. The dispute involved commissions withheld from Clarkson after termination of her employment and junk fees withheld from her throughout her employment.

King is the sole member and manager of JKRE, a domestic limited liability company with its principal place of business in Lexington County. (R. p. 165, lines 14 – 16). King, who describes

himself as a real estate investor, established JKRE in 2015. (R. p. 423, lines 18 - 19; R. p. 165, lines 11 - 13).

Trade and commerce

JKRE advertises real estate to buyers and sellers, offers real estate for sale, and sells real estate to businesses and consumers. (R. p. 165, lines 17 - 24). JKRE has a website that it uses for marketing and to recruit prospective agents. (R. p. 165, line 25 - p. 166, line 9).

On May 31, 2018, JKRE presented Clarkson, a newly licensed real estate agent, with a Broker-Salesperson Agreement (“the Agreement”). (R. p. 174, lines 11 -13 and Ex. 1). The Agreement was drafted by King in 2015. (R. p. 166, lines 13 - 15). The Agreement provided, in pertinent part:

4. Salesperson agrees . . . *to sell* any and all real estate listed with the Broker, to solicit additional listings and clients of said Broker, procure and . . . *represent buyers* and otherwise promote the business of serving the public in real estate transactions . . .

* * *

6. . . . When the Salesperson shall perform any *service* hereunder, whereby a commission is *earned*, said commission shall when *collected*, be divided between the Broker and Salesperson, in which division the Salesperson shall receive a proportionate share as set out in the “Commission Schedule” and the Broker shall receive the balance . . .

* * *

7. . . . when the commission shall have been *collected* from the party or parties for whom the *service* was performed, *said Broker shall hold the*

same in trust for said Salesperson and himself to be divided according to the terms of this agreement.

* * *

9. . . . The Salesperson shall not be liable to the Broker for office help or expense . . .

* * *

11. The Salesperson shall be deemed to be an *independent contractor* and not a servant, employee, or partner of the Broker . . .

* * *

13. This contract and the association created hereby *may be terminated by either party hereto, at any time upon notice given to the other; but the rights of the parties to any commissions which accrued prior to said notice, shall not be divested* by the termination of this contract, except that the commission of said Salesperson on *transactions in process, but not closed*, may be subject to deductions for *necessary⁴ client services*, clerical and administrative work which will be carried out at the discretion of the Broker.

(R. pp. 454-456).

[emphasis added].

The Agreement referred to JKRE's policy manual ("the Policy Manual"), also drafted by King and furnished to Clarkson on May 31, 2018. (R. p. 41, lines 5 – 13 and Ex. 2). The policy manual provided in pertinent part:

⁴ The plain, ordinary, and popular meaning of the word "necessary" is "absolutely needed" or "required". *Arrendondo v. SNH SE Ashley River Tenant, LLC*, 443 S.C. 69, 856 S.E.2d 550 (2021).

When a broker is licensed to supervise agents, the broker also has the following responsibilities:

* * *

f. Paying agents on the Thursday following the closing
(Ex. 2, R. pp. 462-463).

Effect on public interest

King drafted the Agreement and the Policy Manual in 2015. (R. p. 166, lines 13 – 15; p. 168, lines 5 – 7). King estimated that JKRE had hired approximately 25 agents and provided copies of the Agreement and the Policy Manual to each agent hired, with the Policy Manual provided to agents on an annual basis. (R. p. 166, lines 7 – 12; p. 168, lines 8 – 13).

Included in the Policy Manual is a “welcome letter” that provided, in pertinent part, “We value you as part of our team and our *relationship-based culture*,” and, “We want to become our clients' agents for life.” (R. p. 168, line 14 – p. 169, line 8 and Ex. 2, R. p. 459). King recognized that the personal *relationship* between the agent and the client is an important part of the real estate business. (R. p. 169, lines 9 – 14).

King prepared a commission schedule (“the Commission Schedule”) in 2015, which JKRE had used approximately 25 times. (R. p. 170, lines 10 – 21 and Ex. 3, R. p. 466).

JKRE has a trust account, but it does not hold an agent’s commission in this account. Instead, all commissions are deposited into JKRE’s operating account. (R. p. 171, lines 9 – 21). JKRE uses this operating account to pay agent commissions, expenses, and King’s salary. (R. p. 171, lines 19 – 24).

Clarkson and King signed the Agreement and the Commission Schedule dated May 31, 2018, on June 1, 2018. (R. p. 174, lines 11 – 13).

The Commission Schedule provided: “Salesperson/Broker will *earn* 70 % of the total commission, including bonuses. Salesperson/Broker will *earn* 100% of their commission once the Brokerage has earned \$20,000 for the calendar year.” “Salesperson/Broker,” as used in the Commission Schedule, refers to Clarkson. (R. p. 174, line 21 – p. 175, line 1 and Exhibit 3, R. p. 466).

King also prepared an “Agent Commission Worksheet” (“Worksheet”) in 2015. (R. p. 175, line 18 – p. 176, line 1 and Ex. 4, R. p. 467). Agents are required to submit a Worksheet to receive their commissions. (R. p. 176, lines 2 – 5). The Worksheet had been used more than one hundred times. (R. p. 176, lines 6 – 7).

junk fees

Clarkson submitted the Worksheet to receive her first commission approximately four weeks after signing the Agreement. (R. p. 243, line 19 – p. 244, line 1). The Worksheet included a \$50.00 deduction for a “Transaction Fee,” which had not been mentioned in the Agreement, the Policy Manual, or the Commission Schedule. (R. p. 178, lines 4 – 7). Despite Clarkson’s protests, a “Transaction Fee” was deducted from her commissions on numerous transactions. (R. p. 244, line 20 – p. 247, line 7 and p. 306, lines 18 – 25).⁵

The relationship between Clarkson and King began to deteriorate approximately six months prior to Clarkson’s departure from JKRE. (R. p. 250, line 23 – p. 251, line 3).

Prior to providing notice of termination, Clarkson “capped” for 2020, meaning that Clarkson had generated \$20,000.00 for JKRE in that calendar year and no longer had to split her commissions with the brokerage. (R. p. 180, lines 3 – 16). On July 2, 2020, King sent an email to

⁵ The parties stipulated that JKRE had charged Clarkson “transaction fees” on 44 occasions. (R. p. 312, lines 8 – 24).

Clarkson, congratulated her on “capping” and referring to her as a “top producer,” but questioning her professionalism. (R. p. 183, line 20 – p. 184, line 19 and Ex. 5, R. p. 468).

King knew that Clarkson was upset by the email. (R. p. 184, lines 20 – 24). On July 9, 2020, Clarkson came to King's office to speak with him and told King that she wanted to leave JKRE. (R. p. 185, lines 3 – 6).

Pending transactions

Clarkson had transactions pending on six properties; *contracts had been signed*, but closing had not yet taken place. (R. p. 185, lines 7 – 9). King acknowledged that Clarkson had a financial interest in those transactions. (R. p. 185, lines 10 – 12).

King asked Clarkson how she wanted to handle her pending transactions. (R. p. 185, lines 22 – 25). When Clarkson suggested taking them with her to a new brokerage, King told her that she could not. (R. p. 186, lines 1 – 6). Instead, King argued that JKRE was not obligated to pay her anything and argued that the Agreement gave him the right to withhold commissions from an agent upon termination. (R. p. 186, lines 7 – 16).

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