THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY

Donald B. Hocker, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-001661

---

Brandi Clarkson .....Appellant,

v.

J. King Real Estate, LLC and Jason Ernest King, ..... Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

Shaun C. Blake, Esq.  
ROGERS LEWIS JACKSON & MANN, LLC  
1901 Main Street, Suite 1200  
Columbia, SC 29201  
Tel: 803-256-1268  
sblake@rogerslewis.com

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENTS

**RECEIVED**  
MAR 28 2024  
SC Court of Appeals

**

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

## ARGUMENT

**A. THIS IS A SIMPLE CONTRACTUAL DISPUTE OVER A DIFFERENCE OF LESS THAN \$10,000, WHICH A JURY RESOLVED BY AWARDING APPELLANT \$3,187 MORE THAN JKRE TENDERED TO HER, WITH “NO STRINGS ATTACHED,” IN OCTOBER 2020.**

This case arises out of a dispute over contractual commission splits between a real estate brokerage and one of its salespersons that arose because Appellant quit and went to work for another brokerage firm before six residential transactions that she was working for JKRE closed. (R. pp. 109-110, ¶¶ 20, 22; R. p. 313, line 9 – page 317, line 17). Beginning on May 31, 2018, JKRE and Appellant were parties to a Broker-Salesperson Agreement, that provided, in relevant part:

8. Commissions from the party or parties for whom the services may have been performed, shall be distributed *provided however, that the Salesperson has performed their duties as it relates to that transaction*. The Salesperson also agrees that if he has a balance on his account with Broker that commissions may be retained by Broker for payment of that account. ...

13. This contract and the association created hereby may be terminated by either party hereto, at any time upon notice given to the other; but the rights of the parties to any commissions which accrued prior to said notice, shall not be divested by the termination of this contract, *except that the commission of said salesperson on transactions in process, but not closed, may be subject to deductions for necessary client services, clerical and administrative work which will be carried out at the discretion of the Broker*.

(R. 454-456 ¶¶ 8, 13) (emphasis added). Appellant refuses to accept the fact that her contract with JKRE never guaranteed her 100% of the commissions if she chose to quit before the transactions she was working were closed and JKRE was required to do the work to bring those transactions to closing.

The only valid disputes in this case have ever been: (1) whether JKRE breached its contract by withholding the incorrect amount of deductions from Appellant’s share of the commissions; and (2) whether JKRE could recover the cost of replacing its locks once Appellant quit. As

explained herein, that dispute is over a difference of ~\$6,000, and after three days of trial, a Lexington County jury resolved that dispute. (R. p. 566). JKRE has accepted the verdict and paid its obligation to the trial court pending dismissal of this appeal. (R. pp. 20-22). This appeal is simply Appellant's latest effort to contort a contract dispute into an intentional tort or UTPA claim so she can pursue treble damages, punitive damages, and attorneys' fees; in order to maintain the legal distinctions between contract law and more lucrative litigation under tort doctrines and the UTPA, courts must oppose meritless efforts such as Appellant's. *See Allied Distributors, Inc. v. Latrobe Brewing Co.*, 847 F. Supp. 376, 379 (E.D.N.C. 1993) ("Proof of unfair or deceptive trade practices entitles a plaintiff to treble damages, and thus constitutes a boilerplate claim in most every complaint based on a commercial or consumer transaction in North Carolina."); *Bessinger v. Food Lion, Inc.*, 305 F. Supp. 2d 574, 583 (D.S.C. 2003) ("the court cannot find that the defendants' decisions to discontinue selling the plaintiffs' products either offends established public policy or was 'immoral, unethical, oppressive, unscrupulous or substantially injurious to consumers.' If it were, every breach of contract action would give rise to SCUTPA liability."); *Myrtle Beach Pipeline Corp. v. Emerson Elec. Co.*, 843 F. Supp. 1027, 1054 (D.S.C. 1993) (quoting *East River Steamship Corp. v. Transamerica Delaval, Inc.*, 476 U.S. 858 (1986) ("The integrity of contract must be maintained, or contract law will 'drown in a sea of tort.'")).

**1. Appellant voluntarily terminated the Broker-Salesperson Agreement and left JKRE before the closing of the six transactions at issue in her lawsuit.**

Around July 2019, Appellant began to have discussions weekly conversations with Dan Lang ("*Lang*"), the broker-in-charge of another brokerage firm known as Fathom Realty ("*Fathom*"). (R. p. 313, line 9 – p. 317, line 17). In May or June 2020, Appellant set up and attended a meeting with Lang so that she and another JKRE salesperson could evaluate entering into a broker-salesperson agreement with Fathom. (Id). Appellant quit her position with JKRE on

July 9, 2020, and she transferred her salesperson license to Lang, her new broker-in-charge, on July 10, 2020. (R. p. 109, ¶ 20; R. p. 318, line 16 – p. 320, line 19).

On July 13, 2020, Appellant had her attorney write to JKRE and demand “\$36,927.0 in commissions on transactions which have not yet closed.” (R. pp. 472-473). While this letter acknowledged that the Broker-Salesperson Agreement specifically provides that Appellant’s commissions can be reduced as provided in paragraph 13, Appellant dismissed offhand the terms of Appellant’s contract, saying: “Simply put, that dog won’t hunt.” (R. p. 472).

Appellant prematurely filed her lawsuit against JKRE eight days later, claiming that JKRE had failed to pay her commissions even though five of the six transactions that were in progress when she quit had not closed. (R. pp. 540-544). Two of those six transactions – the Whittaker and Sato transactions – became the subject of novation agreements dated July 29, 2020, which transferred the client relationship from JRKE to Fathom. (R. 545-546). Neither Respondent received a penny of commissions to split with Appellant on either transaction; only Appellant and Fathom received commissions from the Whittaker and Sato transactions. (R. p. 292, line 7 – p. 293, line 3; p. 401, line 19 – p. 403, line 8; p. 446, line 3 – p. 448, line 15). The Broker-Salesperson Agreement plainly states that JRKE is never liable for any commission payment to Appellant for a potential closing unless and until JKRE receives a commission from that transaction:

In no case shall the Broker be personally liable to the Salesperson for any commission, nor shall said Salesperson be personally liable to said Broker for any commissions, but when the commission shall have been collected from the party or parties for whom the service was performed, said Broker shall hold the same in trust for said Salesperson and himself to be divided according to the terms of this agreement.

(R. p. 455 ¶ 7).

Green Street - the only transaction at issue that closed prior to Appellant’s lawsuit - closed on July 14, 2023. (R. p. 111 ¶ 31). JKRE paid Appellant 100% of the entire commission JKRE

earned, minus a \$50.00 transaction fee that Appellant approved, on July 23, 2020; Appellant accepted this check as “payment in full” of her claim to any commission on the Green Street transaction. (R. p. 112, ¶¶ 38-39; R. p. 327, line 10 – p. 328, line 22; R. p. 476-477). As a result of this accord and satisfaction between JKRE and Appellant, the Green Street commission was not in dispute at trial.

After Appellant quit, King performed 14.75 hours of client services, valued at \$2,552, to bring Concord to its closing on July 28, 2020. (R. p. 112 ¶ 40; R. p. 403, line 14 – p. 410, line 18; R. pp. 547-548). However, of the \$5,550.00 of commission JKRE earned on the Concord Place closing, JKRE only retained \$1,487.50 as provided in paragraphs 8 and 13 of the Broker-Salesperson Agreement; JKRE paid Plaintiff the remaining \$4,062.50 in commissions on August 5, 2020, October 1, 2020, and October 12, 2020. (R. p. 403, line 14 – p. 411, line 15; R. pp. 550-554).

Likewise, after Appellant quit, King performed 25.45 hours of client services, valued at \$4,403, to bring Old Town to its closings on July 30, 2020. (R. p. 113 ¶ 44; R. p. 406, line 9 – p. 407, line 4; R. pp. 547-548). However, of the \$9,411.44 of commission JKRE earned on the Old Town closings, JKRE only retained \$2,402.86 as provided in paragraphs 8 and 13 of the Broker-Salesperson Agreement; JKRE paid Plaintiff the remaining \$7,008.58 of commission on August 5, 2020, October 1, 2020, and October 12, 2020. (R. p. 403, line 14 – p. 411, line 15; R. pp. 550-554).

Finally, after Appellant quit, King performed 81.5 hours of client services, valued at \$14,100, to bring Trinity to its closing on September 25, 2020. (R. p. 114 ¶ 53; R. 407, line 5 – p. 410, line 3; R. pp. 547- 549). However, because the total commission JKRE received was merely \$4,260.00, JKRE retained only \$2,180.00 as provided in paragraphs 8 and 13 of the Broker-

Salesperson Agreement, and JKRE sent Appellant the remaining \$2,080.00 of commission on October 1, 2020, and October 12, 2020. (R. pp. 552-554).

**2. Appellant wishes to twist a small contract dispute into a tort and a UPTA claim, but the trial court properly denied her wish.**

As detailed above, JKRE performed over \$21,000 in client services after Appellant quit, but it retained only \$6,070 pursuant to paragraphs 8 and 13 of the Broker-Salesperson Agreement. Since the transactions were closed, Respondents have not disputed that Appellant was entitled to \$13,151 of commissions JKRE received from the Concord, Old Town, and Trinity closings. (R. p. 554). However, Appellant refused to cash any of JKRE's commission checks to her for these final three transactions; instead, her attorney repeatedly returned the commission checks to JKRE even after JKRE plainly stated it was tendering the non-disputed payment with "no strings attached." (R. p. 331, line 1 – p. 334, line 6; R. pp. 552, 554;). Specifically, in King's letter to Appellant on October 12, 2020, he stated:

Your attorney keeps mailing the checks I send you back to the attorney J. King Release Estate had to hire to deal with your frivolous lawsuit against it. I cannot imagine why this money was returned other than some senseless desire to stir disagreement between us and carry on with that premature lawsuit you filed. I have been simply trying to timely issue the payment to you that I have calculated as due under the contract. Your refusal to accept it now without any strings attached is baffling to me.

My letter did not say that you agreed that this was "full payment." I simply said that I believe that this is the full payment J. King Real Estate could owe you (without regard to what you owe it) from the proceeds of the closings referenced on the checks. The amount of the check is the commission paid minus the deductions for necessary client services, clerical and administrative work done by J. King Real Estate after you terminated the contract and filed a lawsuit before these closings occurred. I understand that you disagree that your contract means what it plainly says, and that you feel J. King Real Estate is not entitled to make deductions for the work it had to perform to accomplish those closings after you terminated the contract. This is simply the payment that J. King Real Estate has calculated as due to you on those three closings. If you desire to pursue some frivolous lawsuit against J. King Real Estate and waste both of our time and money, that is a shame, but I suppose the lawyers can sort that out.

(R. p. 554).<sup>1</sup>

Due to the fact Appellant's claims were not ripe when she filed suit, JKRE responded to Appellant's initial lawsuit with a motion to dismiss. (R. pp. 34-35). Faced with this motion and once it became apparent that there was only ~\$6,000 of commissions in actual dispute between her and JKRE, Appellant amended and supplemented her Breach of Contract and UTPA claims to assert that JKRE improperly recovered transaction fees from her commissions -- the same transaction fees that Appellant initially pled were part of the established "course of dealing" between her and JKRE. (R. p. 541 ¶ 12).

At trial, Appellant admitted that she completed an Agent Commission Worksheet on every transaction that she closed while she was a Salesperson for JKRE. (R. p. 310, lines 2-24). Each Agent Commission Worksheet that Appellant prepared indicated the actual amount Appellant claimed was due to her from that transaction under the Broker-Salesperson Agreement. (R. pp. 467, 494-538). Each Agent Commission Worksheet was an agreement between JKRE and Appellant establishing the portion of the commission that JKRE is to pay Appellant. (R. p. 421, lines 13-25). At trial, the parties also stipulated as evidence the fact that JKRE recovered forty-four transaction fees (totaling \$2,150.00) pursuant to the Agent Commission Worksheets. (R. p. 213, lines 4-24). On forty-two occasions, Appellant's worksheets stated that JKRE was entitled to recover a \$50 transaction fee from her part of the commission; and on two occasions, Appellant's worksheets stated that JKRE was entitled to recover a \$25 transaction fee from her part of the

---

<sup>1</sup> Appellant now argues that JKRE's efforts to perform its obligation under the Broker-Salesperson Agreement and deliver what it calculated as due Appellant from each transaction is evidence of an effort to "coerce a fee split," which Appellant contends should be actionable under the UTPA. (App. Br. 23-25). Appellant's faulty reasoning ignores the plain language of the Broker-Salesperson Agreement that describes the fee split and is unsupported by any case precedent.

commission. (Id).

Immediately after she quit and transferred her salesperson license to Lang, Appellant sent an email to King on July 10, 2020, that confirmed JKRE was entitled to continue to recover its transaction fee from the unclosed transactions: "Although you interpret what the contract says much differently I should receive the commission earned *minus the \$50 transaction fee.*" (R. p. 558) (emphasis added). In short, Appellant's mid-litigation claim that she is entitled to recover the transaction fees was a reversal of all her dealings with JKRE prior to her first Amended and Supplemental Complaint.

When Appellant was asked to explain her mid-litigation reversal and contest over the \$2,150 of transaction fees, Appellant testified that fighting with JKRE over the transaction fees while she worked for JKRE was simply not worth it, and that she did not ask for the transaction fees until her attorney said, "hey, Brandi, look at this" when lawsuit was already underway:

Q. And earlier you testified, you told the jury that at every chance you got you contested this \$50 transaction fee. At every closing, correct?

A. I did.

Q. Didn't transaction -- you didn't, you didn't argue about it here though, correct? On July 10<sup>th</sup> when you were setting out what your ask of Mr. King is?

A. Mm hmm.

Q. You didn't contest it then, correct?

A. I was not contesting it then. The thing with the \$50 transaction fee is it didn't matter how much you contested it, he wasn't taking it off. Was it worth not getting paid to save -- or was it worth just giving him the \$50. It's no different than the argument we just had in here. Some things are just worth it. So, yes, I did dispute it. I put on record I disputed it. But am I going to quit or throw a complete conniption fit over \$50? Probably not.

Q. Ma'am, when you filed this lawsuit on July 21<sup>st</sup> you didn't contest the transaction fee in it, correct?

A. At that point in time my attorney was aware that I was upset about the transaction fees. But I wasn't quite aware of just how illegal him withholding transaction fees without my consent was. So that's why you see that we didn't ask for the transaction fees until a little bit later when my attorney advised me, hey, Brandi, look at this.

(R. p. 240, line 3 – p. 241, line 7).

Appellant's first Amended and Supplemental Complaint filed on October 29, 2020, also added a claim against JKRE for intentional interference with prospective contractual relations. (R. pp. 38 - 48). When JKRE served an interrogatory asking Appellant to "[i]dentify and describe each expected contract that you have been unsuccessful in acquiring," Appellant merely directed JKRE to paragraphs 1 to 71 of her first Amended and Supplemental Complaint. (R. p. 489, #8.) However, Appellant's pleading makes no mention of any prospective contracts at all, but rather it only refers to the same transactions she put at issue in her breach of contract claim against JKRE. (R. p. 47).

Once Appellant's case came up for trial in February 2022, Appellant filed a Motion to Serve a Second Amended and Supplemental Complaint on February 4, 2022. (R. p. 89). This amendment sought: (1) to add King as an individual defendant; (2) to drop the tort claim against JKRE and make King the target of Appellant's claim for tortious interference with prospective contractual relations; and (3) to amend her UTPA claim to include King as a defendant. (R. p. 89; pp. 99-101, ¶¶ 74-88). JKRE opposed this Motion as an improper amendment and a tactic to delay trial. (R. pp. 102-106).

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